ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 The circuit court should have granted Petitioner's motion for change of venue because of 
a present, hostile sentiment in Brooke County towards Petitioner. Intense media 
coverage, caused in part by the State's careless handling of sensitive pretrial issues, 
perpetuated a narrative that Petitioner was mentally unstable and a danger to the 
community. 

II. 	 The circuit court erred by excluding on 404(b) grounds Petitioner's proffered testimony 
that the decedent sold drugs and guns, and therefore other unknown parties would have 
had a motive to kill him. 

III. 	 The State introduced insufficient evidence to convince a rational trier of fact beyond a 
reasonable doubt that the decedent's homicide was premeditated. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Introduction 

In July 2015, a Brooke County jury convicted Petitioner of first degree murder without 

the possibility of parole. A.R. 2139, 2327. However, Brooke County was so hostile towards him 

in the months preceding trial that jury questionnaires indicated Petitioner did not deserve a trial. 

A.R. 2700. Widely circulated social media postings repeated this sentiment, and stated that West 

Virginia should bring back the death penalty for Petitioner. A.R. 39. The circuit court judge even 

found the State partially responsible for this toxic environment, A.R. 759, but did not move the 

trial to a different county. See A.R. 1094. Furthermore, the circuit court unde.rmined Petitioner's 

theory of defense by not allowing him to testify at trial that the decedent was a drug dealer unless 

he first testified pretrial, exposed himself to cross-examination, and proved to the court's 

satisfaction by a preponderance of the evidence that he was telling the truth. A.R. 24, 451-53. 

Finally, the State's inability to identify a motive coupled with the scant evidence of how the 

killing itself transpired makes this a case where rational jurors could reasonably infer a second, 
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but not a first degree, murder. Petitioner now appeals and asks this Court to reverse his 

conviction and order a new trial. 

B. The State arrests Petitioner for allegedly 	kiUing the decedent. He is 
hospitalized to restore competency, and escapes from Sharpe Hospital 
for three days. 

On February 19, 2013, Jason Pratz's body was found in his home, where he had been 

shot three times with a .45 caliber Glock handgun. A.R. 1220, 1266, 1465-66. An identification 

made from a surveillance camera in the decedent's neighborhood led the police to suspect 

Petitioner's involvement in the homicide. AR. 2377-78. The police formally arrested Petitioner 

in March 2013. AR. 2206. 

A hospital in Washington, Pennsylvania had previously diagnosed Petitioner with 

schizophrenia, AR. 2207, and due to his mental state at the time of arrest, the regional jail placed 

him on anti-psychotic medication. AR. 132. On April 8, 2014, the circuit court committed 

Petitioner to William R. Sharpe Jr. Hospital to determine his competency pursuant to an 

agreement between the State and defense (Petitioner himself did not believe he was mentally ill). 

A.R. 188-91. On May 12, 2014, the court found Petitioner not competent, but restorable. A.R. 

201. Petitioner's ability to assist trial counsel waxed and waned throughout the period of his 

pretrial incarceration. See, e.g., AR. 615. On February 19,2015, the circuit court again declared 

Petitioner incompetent but restorable. AR. 696. Petitioner was returned to Sharpe. See AR. 717. 

On the evening of March 23,2015, Petitioner escaped from Sharpe. AR. 2283. The State 

engaged in a "full out manhunt" to locate him. A.R. 2285. This included getting the story of the 

escape and Petitioner's picture into the local news. AR. 2286-87. Based on the news reports, a 

convenience store clerk recognized Petitioner and called the police, eventually leading to his re

apprehension. See AR. 2287. The State sought to introduce this escapade as evidence of flight 
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during the guilt portion of Petitioner's bifurcated trial. See AR. 68. The circuit court denied the 

motion without a hearing because Petitioner was still incompetent at that time, and therefore the 

evidence was irrelevant, and too prejudicial. Id. 

c. 	Petitioner proceeds to trial one week after the circuit court declares 
him competent. Identity is a significant issue at trial. 

The circuit court declared Petitioner's competency restored July 13, 2015. AR. 793. 

Petitioner's trial began exactly one week later, on July 20,2015. AR. 826. The theory of defense 

was that someone else, and not Petitioner, committed the homicide. AR. 1180-92. Arguably, the 

single most important piece of evidence in this case was a neighborhood surveillance video from 

February 18, 2013, the day before the discovery of decedent's body. It showed Petitioner 

walking up the street towards the decedent's house at approximately 5:18 PM and then running 

back down the street nine minutes later. AR. 1523, 1526. The jury had to decide whether 

Petitioner fled after killing the decedent himself, or if he ran away because he found a murder 

scene at which his friend had already been killed. See AR. 1189, 2106. 

The State and defense presented competing timelines to the jury. The decedent's mother 

(who lived next door) testified that to her recollection, she last saw her son at 5:00 PM on 

February 18, 2013, less than thirty minutes before the video showed Petitioner in the 

neighborhood. A.R. 1220. A phone call between the decedent and his mother tends to support 

this. A.R. 1349. However, during the nine-minute window Petitioner was near the decedent's 

house, no one heard any gunshots, e.g. AR. 1229, including two individuals on the street during 

part of this time. A.R. 1965-67, 1968-69. By contrast, a woman living across the street from the 

decedent heard gunshots between 1 :00 PM and 3 :00 PM a day or two before police and EMTs 

recovered decedent's body - hours before Petitioner walked up the hill towards his friend's 
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house. AR. 2020-21, 2027. She heard one gunshot, and then a few minutes later she heard two 

more. Id She went outside, and saw a car pulling out of the decedent's driveway. Initially she 

did not identify Petitioner, but as the case progressed, she came to believe he was driving this 

vehicle. AR. 2027-28. She indicated a second individual ran away on foot. Id at 2022-23. 

To bolster the defense theory that the decedent was shot hours before Petitioner entered 

the neighborhood, the Petitioner called an acoustics expert to testify. A.R. 1972. This expert 

inspected the construction of homes in the area and took measurements with acoustic equipment. 

AR. 1978-79. Using this information and standard values accepted in her field, A.R. 1981, she 

used a mathematical model to estimate the sound levels from various points in the neighborhood. 

AR. 1990, 1992-93. Based on her expert analysis, if someone fired a .45 caliber Glock on 

February 18, 2013 around 5:18-5:27, people in the neighborhood would have heard it. A.R. 

1992-95. 

The State did not call an expert witness. Instead, police went into the neighborhood and 

conducted a bullet trap test. Essentially, this meant an officer went into the decedent's home and 

fired a gun while another officer tried to hear it from various locations. A.R. 1901-02. First, the 

listening officer stood directly behind the firing officer (presumably without ear protection for 

the test). A.R. 1906. He heard that shot. Id. After that, he could not hear shots from inside two 

homes in the area with those house's front doors closed. AR. 1909-10. In the second house, he 

could hear the shot with that home's door open. AR. 1911. The police only fired the gun with 

the decedent's door closed. AR. 1904. The officers did not perform the test for the house from 

which the woman across the street heard three gunshots at 1 :00-3:00 PM. AR. 1917. 

In addition to the surveillance footage showing Petitioner in the neighborhood between 

5:18 PM and 5:27 PM, the State relied on physical evidence. The decedent's mother found the 
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body at least 24 hours after the homicide. AR. 1218. She did not touch anything, AR. 1223, but 

tested positive for gunshot residue. AR. 1780. Petitioner's steering wheel and clothing also 

tested positive for gunshot residue. Id. The police never found the gun, but based on the shell 

casings and bullet fragments the State believed the assailant shot the decedent three times with a 

gun and ammunition consistent with ones purchased by Petitioner from Gander Mountain in 

2012. Compare A.R. 1651-54 with AR. 1811-12. There was no blood or DNA from the 

decedent in Petitioner's car or on his clothing. E.g. A.R. 1289. 

The police interviewed Petitioner twice pre-arrest, before he had counsel. AR. 1676, 

1871. During the first interview, the officer questioned him one-on-one. AR. 1679. Petitioner 

gave an alibi that was inconsistent with security camera footage (he said he had been at 

Starbucks that day), and initially said he did not own a gun but later admitted he did. AR. 1723, 

1726. The officer observed that Petitioner appeared frightened and emotional, at one point 

crying. AR. 1722. The officer appears to attribute this to consciousness of guilt rather than 

paranoid schizophrenia. See A.R. 1722-23. In the second interview, the officer observed that 

Petitioner gave only vague answers. A.R. 1873. He denied being in West Virginia on February 

18, 2013. AR. 1877. Petitioner said he learned about the decedent's death from his cousin. Id 

He said he bought a gun from Gander Mountain but that it had been stolen. A.R. 1878. 

The State also compelled Petitioner's friends and family to testify. E.g. A.R. 1887. 

Petitioner's father testified that he called the Brooke County Sheriff's office on March 6, 2013 

because he was desperate to get his son help. A.R. 1888. He tried calling Washington County, 

Pennsylvania authorities to have his son taken to a hospital but they did not come out. AR. 

1888-89. The State played a recording of the Petitioner's father calling the Brooke County 

Sheriffs office and claiming that the deputies missed the gun while searching the house and that 
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Petitioner was now trying to burn it in a fireplace. A.R. 1896,2099. Petitioner's father testified 

that he lied to the Sheriff's department because he was desperate to get his son help. A.R. 1896

98. The police never found a gun. See A.R. 2099. 

Also, a friend testified that Petitioner came to his house after the first police interview. 

A.R. 1635. Petitioner needed a ride because during the interview (which he drove to voluntarily), 

officers seized his car. See A.R. 1639-40. Petitioner asked his friend to drive him to his aunt's 

house and that he thought he was wanted for murder. A.R. 1637. 

The State also called Petitioner's best friend and her fonner boyfriend to testify about an 

incident three days prior to the decedent's death. A.R. 1843. Petitioner showed the two of them a 

black handgun he had in his backpack. A.R. 1844-45. He pulled out the clip and his friend saw 

that it was loaded. Id. Petitioner had been showing it to her boyfriend, but put it away because 

his friend "freaked out." A.R. 1845. Also, Petitioner's friend testified about a letter she received 

from jail and provided to the State. A.R. 1854. In the letter, Petitioner asks his friend to testify he 

was trying to sell the gun to her boyfriend. A.R. 1855-56. Petitioner's friend did not remember 

him trying to sell the gun to her boyfriend. A.R. 1857. The boyfriend also did not recall whether 

Petitioner showed him the gun because he wanted to sell it. A.R. 1865. Petitioner put it away 

quickly because of how his friend reacted. Id. 

Following the five-day trial, the jury deliberated for approximately two hours and 

convicted Petitioner of first degree murder. A.R. 2134-39. 

The same Brooke County jury reconvened the following Monday for the mercy phase of 

Petitioner's trial. A.R. 2176. The defense introduced evidence that Petitioner was a happy, mild

mannered, and popular person until his early 20's when he rapidly deteriorated into a paranoid, 

psychotic state. E.g. A.R. 2181-82. This pattern is common with schizophrenia. A.R. 2199-200. 
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At age 23, he removed all of his tooth fillings. AR. 2194. He feared his family would poison his 

food or grooming supplies. AR. 2194-95. He barricaded himself in his room, padlocking the 

door closed. ld After the decedent's homicide, Petitioner was voluntarily hospitalized and 

diagnosed as psychotic, not otherwise specified. AR. 2195-97. He was later returned to that 

hospital pursuant to an involuntary mental hygiene petition and eventually diagnosed with 

paranoid schizophrenia. ld The defense argued Petitioner should receive mercy because 

schizophrenia can be medicated, and in the decades to come, he may recover enough to not 

endanger society. A.R. 2324-26. 

The State agreed Petitioner had been psychotic, but disagreed with the schizophrenia 

diagnosis. Instead, it believed Petitioner's bizarre behavior was driven entirely by marijuana 

ingestion. A.R. 2302-03. Based on this and Petitioner's escape from Sharpe, the State argued for 

no mercy. AR. 2319-2324. 

After fifty minutes of deliberation, the jury sentenced Petitioner to life in prison without 

the possibility of parole. AR. 2326. 

D. 	The circuit court would not accept a proffer of Petitioner's 404(b) 
evidence that the decedent sold drugs and guns, and therefore would 
not allow him to testify at trial unless he first testified in camera, 
subject to cross-examination, and proved to the court's satisfaction he 
was telling the truth. 

Identity was a significant issue at trial, and Petitioner's theory of the case centered on an 

important weakness in the State's case - its inability to identify a motive for why Petitioner 

would kill the decedent. AR. 1191-92. In addition to the fact he had no motive, Petitioner sought 

to argue that unknown third parties would have a motive to harm the decedent because of his 

involvement in the drug trade. AR. 10-18. Specifically, Petitioner intended to argue that the 

decedent lost his job as an EMT because he diverted prescription pain medication and turned to 
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drug dealing to make money, which would have brought him into contact with desperate, 

sometimes dangerous people. Id.; see also A.R. 451-53. Text messages tended to show the 

decedent also sold guns, and one text message concerned a .45 caliber handgun with a threaded 

barrel (a feature for attaching a silencer). A.R. 463-66. The State filed a motion to preclude 

Petitioner from introducing this testimony. AR. 3-9. Petitioner filed a response and official 

notice of intent to use 404(b) evidence. AR. 10-18. 

The circuit court was unsure how to treat the evidence but settled on conducting a 404(b) 

McGinnis hearing. AR. 20-24. Because in a McGinnis hearing the court must take evidence to 

determine whether the other bad acts actually occurred, AR. 451-52, the court would not let 

Petitioner testify at trial that the decedent was a drug dealer unless he first testified at an in 

camera hearing. AR. 452; see also AR. 24. The court refused to accept a mere proffer. Id.. The 

individual texting about guns did testify at an in camera hearing. AR. 460 et. seq. One of her 

texts read, ".45 ACP Double action/single action (with the threaded barrel cuz you never know 

who he will have to do quietly)." Id. She testified she was arranging for the decedent only to 

show her husband guns, that no one intended to buy or sell anything. Id. AR. 452; Id. 

The court applied McGinnis and conducted its own fact-finding. A.R. 23-24. Because it 

would not accept a proffer regarding the decedent's drug dealing, Petitioner could not testify to 

this at trial. See A.R. 451-52. The court found no credible evidence the decedent sold guns or 

silencers, and therefore Petitioner could not admit that testimony (although he could present 

evidence the decedent owned glIDS ifhe wished). AR. 24. 
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E. 	 Prior to trial, the circuit court denied Petitioner's motion for change 
of venue. 

To the circuit court's displeasure, Petitioner's case received considerable pUblicity in part 

due to the State's actions. A.R. 759. The circuit court characterized this publicity as "excessive," 

especially for such a small community. AR. 908. The media was ubiquitous throughout pretrial 

proceedings, requiring the closure of the courtroom for confidential matters, AR. 794, and on 

two occasions, the media presence interrupted the proceedings in front of the jury. AR. 1155, 

1180. 

Petitioner moved to change venue on the groUnds that Brooke County harbored a present, 

hostile sentiment against him because of this publicity. AR. 32-50. In support of this motion, 

Petitioner included exemplary newspaper clippings, local television news articles, and social 

media postings concerning Petitioner's case from The Weirton Daily Times, WTAE, WTRF, 

ABC, and CBS. A.R. 36-49. Additionally, WTOV, the Herald Star, and the Intelligencer-

Wheeling News Register, and local radio stations reported on Petitioner's case. AR. 2789, 2933, 

37,2547. 

ABC News, via Good Morning America, reported Petitioner's escape from William R. 

Sharpe Jr. Hospital. AR. 40. That article quotes a WTRF interview of the Brooke County Sheriff 

describing Petitioner as a "very plotting, very controlling person," and opining that Petitioner is 

capable of committing crimes to elude the police. Id This article was "liked" approximately 

2,100 times when submitted as an exhibit. Id. It also received 61 comments from readers. A.R. 

41. Many of these comments are insincere, but several of them express open hostility toward 

Petitioner, such as saying he will "most likely kill just to stay free[.]" Id Other comments 

characterize Petitioner as a "savage[,]" A.R. 43, a "killer[,]" or otherwise presume guilt. AR. 44. 

CBS also reported this story with the same quotes from the Brooke County Sheriff. A.R. 45. 
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Readers also commented on this story, including someone from Weston, WV who said, "[W]e 

have our own handheld version of 'homeland security' we'd love to demonstrate for him." A.R. 

47. 

WTRF, a local television station, posted about the escape on its Facebook Timeline, 

stating, "[The Sheriff] considers Zuccaro dangerous." A.R. 48. The post further stated, "Police 

need your help locating this man[,]" and requested viewers to "SHARE this post to widen the 

search for Zuccaro." Id Facebook users did so 314 times as of March 24, 2015. Id Facebook 

users also commented on the post, expressing the sentiment that if he can escape, he is 

competent. /d. Another user posted "Good reason to bring back capital punishment. .. no 

escaping that!!!" A.R. 48. Other users suggested Petitioner may be responsible for other crimes 

in the Northern Panhandle, A.R. 49, and queried "Is this a shoot on sight deal?" Id One user said 

the fact he was not already in prison showed that the criminal justice system failed. Id Finally, 

two users did voice their support - an apparent relative and an acquaintance of Petitioner. A.R. 

48-49. Yet even his relative assumed Petitioner killed the decedent but was mentally ill. Id 

WT AE, the Intelligencer-Wheeling News Register, and the Weirton Daily Times all 

reported on the State's motion for heightened security, which asked the circuit court to require 

Petitioner to wear a stun belt. A.R. 36-37. In support of this motion, which the State did not file 

under seal, the State indicated the stun belt would prevent Petitioner from "fleeing or harming 

others." A.R. 36. According to the print and television media, the State further believed the belt's 

presence would not interfere with Petitioner's right to a fair trial since the jurors would not know 

about it. See id. 37. 

The court also sent questionnaires to prospective jurors, and Petitioner filed under seal 

supplemental exhibits discussing the responses. A.R. 2419-35. After receiving the first fifty-two 
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responses to the questionnaire, Petitioner compiled the results and arranged for a graduate 

assistant at West Virginia University to conduct a statistical analysis. A.R. 2422. According to 

that expert analysis, 53.85% of respondents demonstrated bias, 11.54% of respondents gave 

ambiguous answers to questions, and 34.62% of respondents did not demonstrate bias. A.R. 

2429. ~ased on the data, the graduate assistant concluded mathematically that with a 99% 

confidence interval, between 36.04% and 71.65% of potential jurors in Brooke County were 

biased against Petitioner. AR. 2430. 

In total, Petitioner has seventy-seven (77) juror questionnaires filed before the date of 

trial. See A.R. 2447-3135. Of those, fifty-two (52) questionnaires indicate prior knowledge of the 

case from the media or discussions within the community. 1 Fifteen (15) questionnaires indicate 

the respondents felt a personal connection to the case because the homicide occurred close to 

their homes, they knew the decedent directly or indirectly, or in one instance was an officer 

involved in the case? Nineteen (19), nearly a quarter of questionnaires, express a preconceived

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