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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 


A motion for a change of venue in a criminal case is a matter of discretion for the circuit 

court, and requires the defendant to make a showing of good cause. To satisfy the good cause 

requirement the defendant must establish the existence of present, pervasive hostile sentiment in 

the county where the trial is to be held. Merely demonstrating that there has been widespread 

media coverage, even negative coverage, is not sufficient to satisfy the good cause burden. 

N either is demonstrating that potential jurors have knowledge of the case, even if that knowledge 

has the possibility of causing prejudice. Instead, the defendant must demonstrate that the 

community sentiment is so hostile, and the opinions of the jury pool so entrenched, that he would 

be unable to receive a fair trial in that county. Satisfying this burden requires a demonstration of 

an overwhelming level of hostility before voir dire, or can be met during the voir dire process if 

a substantial proportion of the jury pool is revealed to be tainted by unshakeable prejudice 

against the defendant. A circuit court's determination of the propriety of a change of venue (or 

lack thereof) in any particular case "will not be disturbed, unless it clearly appears that the 

discretion aforesaid has been abused." Syl. pt. 2, in part, State v. Wooldridge, 129 W. Va. 448, 

449,40 S.E.2d 899, 901 (1946). 

Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence governs the admissibility of 

evidence related to prior bad acts or criminal conduct. Though usually invoked by the 

prosecution, the rule is equally available for use by criminal defendants. In State v. McGinnis, 

this Court articulated the procedure which is to be followed by a circuit court when a party seeks 

to introduce 404(b) evidence. Syl. pt. 2, State v. McGinnis, 193 W. Va. 147, 455 S.E.2d 516 

(1994). That procedure requires the party offering the 404(b) evidence to make a preliminary 

showing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the bad act or criminal conduct sought to be 
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introduced actually occurred, that it is relevant, and that its probative value exceeds its potential 

for unfair prejudice. Contrary to Petitioner's claim, the standard set forth in McGinnis (where 

404(b) evidence was offered by the prosecution against the defendant) applies to any situation in 

which a party seeks to introduce 404(b) evidence, and the circuit court properly adhered to the 

McGinnis procedure. Given the significant potential for unfair prejudice which accompanies the 

admission of 404(b) evidence, it is reasonable to require circuit courts to engage in a preliminary 

screening of 404(b) evidence so that irrelevant or highly prejudicial evidence does not go before 

the jury. Even though this Court has recognized that the potential for unfair prejudice is 

somewhat reduced when the 404(b) evidence is not being offered against a criminal defendant, 

the situation presented in this case - where the proffered 404(b) evidence involves the victim of 

the crime at issue - represents the most obvious scenario in which such evidence can cause 

unfair prejudice to the State. That is, when evidence is introduced which casts the victim of the 

crime in a negative light, the jury may be inclined to acquit the accused, despite evidence tending 

to demonstrate his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, due to their negative feelings toward the 

victim and their sense that he "got what was coming to him." Moreover, numerous courts from 

around the country have concluded that excluding a defendant's proffered 404(b) evidence, for a 

variety of reasons, does not interfere with a criminal defendant's constitutional right to present a 

full defense. 

Finally, although the evidence the State provided to establish the element of 

premeditation was circumstantial, there was evidence in the record from which a rational jury 

could draw the reasonable, logical inferences necessary to conclude that Petitioner premeditated 

before killing Jason Pratz. Applying the standard of review articulated in this Court's seminal 

decision of State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995), the existence of such 
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evidence is more than enough to shield a guilty verdict from an appellate attack based on the 

purported insufficiency of the evidence. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The circuit court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Petitioner's motion 
for a change of venue. 

Article three, section fourteen of the West Virginia Constitution states that criminal 

trials "shall be ... in the county where the alleged offense was committed," but pennits the 

defendant to request a change of venue. W. Va. Const. art. III, § 14; see also W. Va. Code. § 62

3-13. There is no absolute right to be tried in a different venue; as this Court held in the second 

syllabus point of State v. Wooldridge, "[t]o warrant a change of venue in a criminal case, there 

must be a showing of good cause therefor ...." 129 W. Va. 448, 449, 40 S.E.2d 899, 901 

(1946); accord Syl. pt. 6, State v. Black, 227 W. Va. 297, 708 S.E.2d 491 (2010). "'Good cause 

shown' for change of venue, as the phrase is used in W. Va. Constitution, Article III, Section 14 

and W.Va. Code, 62-3-13, means proof that a defendant cannot get a fair trial in the county 

where the offense occurred because of the existence of locally extensive present hostile 

sentiment against him." Syl. pt. 1, State v. Pratt, 161 W. Va. 530,244 S.E.2d 227 (1978); see 

also Syl. pt. 1, State v. Siers, 103 W. Va. 30,136 S.E. 503 (1927) ("A present hostile sentiment 

against an accused, extending throughout the entire county in which he is brought to trial, is good 

cause for removing the case to another county."). "[The] burden of showing good cause for 

granting a change of venue rests upon the defendant." State v. Peacher, 167 W. Va. 540, 550, 

280 S.E.2d 559, 568 (1981). Detennining whether or not a defendant has made the required 

showing of good cause is a matter of discretion, and a circuit court's ruling in that regard is 

reviewed only for abuse of that discretion. Syl. pt. 2, in part, Wooldridge, 129 W. Va. at 449,40 
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S.E.2d at 901 (a circuit court's ruling "will not be disturbed, unless it clearly appears that the 

discretion aforesaid has been abused. "). 

Petitioner asserts that circuit court below abused its discretion. He contends that public 

sentiment in Brooke County was so hostile against him that the court had no choice but to grant a 

change of venue. See Pet. Briefat 16-20. In support of this argument, he highlights the existence 

of incendiary internet comments (appended to internet news articles discussing his escape from 

Sharpe and the prosecution's motion to fit him with a "shock belt" at trial) and similar comments 

made on social media, and argues that these comments are illustrative of the community 

sentiment in Brooke County. Id. 1 However, a defendant cannot satisfy the good cause burden 

solely by pointing to the existence of pretrial publicity (even if that publicity engendered a 

negative response) or offering evidence that some potential jurors had opinions regarding his 

case (or even exhibited signs of prejudice). As this Court explained in State v. Beale: 

It is not sufficient merely to show that great prejudice exists against the accused; it 
must appear that the prejudice against him at the time of trial was so great as to 
prevent him from receiving a fair and impartial trial. 

104 W. Va. 617, 141 S.E. 7, 10 (1927); accord Syl. pt. 1, State v. Gangwer, 169 W. Va. 177,286 

S.E.2d 389 (1982) ("Widespread publicity, of itself, does not require change of venue, and 

neither does proof that prejudice exists against an accused, unless it appears that the prejudice 

against him is so great that he cannot get a fair trial."); see also Syl. pt. 2, State v. Hamric, 151 

I It is worth noting that Petitioner does not off6r any assurance or certification that the individuals 
who made these incendiary comments actually reside in Brooke County. Thus, Petitioner's claim 
that the vitriol reflected in these comments is indicative of hostile sentiment localized in Brooke 
County - in part "because [Petitioner] was from out of state," Pet. Br. at 18 - is unverified 
speculation. Taking into account the geography of West Virginia's northern panhandle (and the 
nature of media markets), it is just as likely that the incendiary comments were left by 
Pennsylvanians or Ohioans. Moreover, given the nature of the Internet (and in particular, social 
media) it is far from guaranteed that the comments included in the record were made by residents 
of Brooke County - there is nothing that prevents West Virginians from other locations of the 
State (or, as already noted, residents of surrounding states) from accessing the articles in question 
(or seeing a shared social media post) and then leaving an incendiary comment. 
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W. Va. 1, 151 S .E.2d 252 (1966) ("The mere existence of widespread publicity is not in and of 

itself sufficient to require a change of venue. "). 

Petitioner describes the coverage of his case as "intensive" and "sensational," Pet. Br. at 

17, but the record contains only one print newspaper article, three brief online news articles (one 

from a local TV station, and one each from a ABC and CBS affiliate), and a Facebook post that 

was shared 314 times. (See App. Vol. I at 36-48).2 This level of coverage, while not insignificant, 

does not appear to be of the same magnitude as media coverage which this Court has previously 

recognized as problematic. C/State v. Dandy, 151 W. Va. 547, 549, 153 S.E.2d 507, 509 (1967) 

(holding that a change of venue was warranted; the defense supported its motion with 

"approximately seventy-five newspaper items and editorials concerning the defendant" and the 

Court noted that after an indictment against the defendant was issued "newspaper articles and 

editorials appeared almost d(!.ily with some reference to the defendant."). Petitioner sought to 

bolster his claim with a brief statistical analysis, which looked at 52 questionnaires returned by 

prospective Brooke County jurors. (See App. Vol. III at 2420-22). According to the analysis, 

twenty-eight of the fifty-two questionnaires contained either "some clear form of bias ... Q! that 

[the prospective juror had] s[een] something negative in the media. (Id) (emphasis added). Thus 

Petitioner's argument, as demonstrated by the evidence upon which he relies, is premised on the 

idea that he demonstrated good cause simply by documenting the extent of the exposure potential 

jurors had to negative pretrial pUblicity. See Pet. Brie/at 9-13. As an initial matter, Respondent 

challenges Petitioner's assertion that the publicity documented in the record was so 

In his brief, Petitioner identifies several other media outlets which he states also covered his 
case. See Pet. Br. at 9 ("Additionally, WTOV, the Herald Star, and the Intelligencer-Wheeling 
News Register, and local radio stations reported on Petitioner's case."). While the undersigned 
has no particular reason to doubt the accuracy of this assertion, Petitioner's identification of 
these media sources is based entirely on the representations contained in returned juror 
questionnaires, and finds no other support in the record. 
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overwhelming that the circuit court had no choice but to conclude than that Petitioner was unable 

to receive a fair trial in Brooke County. Cj Gangwer, 169 W. Va. at 180, 286 S.E.2d at 392 

(holding that circuit court did not abuse its discretion even though defendant "numerous 

newspaper articles" and "75 affidavits [from] members of the community who were of the 

opinion that he could not get a fair trial"). But more importantly, Petitioner's intense focus on the 

nature of the publicity, and the extent to which the community had knowledge of the facts of the 

case, see e.g., Pet. Br. at 11 (remarking that 52 of 77 of the jury questionnaires received before 

trial "indicate[ d] prior knowledge of the case from the media or discussions in the community"), 

is misplaced. As this Court has explained on several occasions: 

[T]he inquir[y] on a motion for a change of venue should not be whether the 
community remembered or heard the facts of the case, but whether the jurors had 
such fixed opinions that they could not judge impartially the guilt or innocence of the 
defendant. 

Syl. pt. 3, State v. Derr, 192 W. Va. 165,451 S.E.2d 731 (1994); accord Syl. pt. 4, State v. 

Blevins, 231 W. Va. 135, 744 S.E.2d 245 (2013) (per curiam). 

Engaging in the proper inquiry as outlined in Derr, it is clear that neither the jury pool as 

a whole, nor the panel ultimately selected, was irrevocably tainted by preconceived notions 

which they could not discard. In fact, Petitioner concedes that "all of the jurors" who were 

ultimately selected to sit on his panel "indicated they would be fair." Pet. Br. at 13. Perhaps in 

recognition of the import of this concession, Petitioner relies on a per curiam opinion, State v. 

Gianni, 174 W. Va. 580, 328 S.E.2d 187 (1985), to support his argument that "[t]he issue is 

whether the defendant can receive a fair trial in the county, not whether the court can select 

jurors who say they can be fair." Pet. Br. at 17. The relevant section of Gianni cited by Petitioner 

relies on the syllabus of State v. Flaherty, in which it was said that "[t]he fact that a jury free 

from exception can be impaneled is not conclusive, on a motion for a change of venue and will 
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not justify the court in refusing to receive other evidence to support such motion." 42 W.Va. 

240,24 S.E. 885 (1896) (emphasis added). Petitioner then argues that Gianni and Flaherty stand 

for the proposition that "when ... a hostile sentiment exists, it is an abuse of discretion to deny a 

defendant's motion for change of venue even if all jurors selected for service indicate they are 

unbiased." Pet. Br. at 17 (citing Flaherty). 

That may very well be true, but it does not save Petitioner's position, because Petitioner 

did not demonstrate, prior to voir dire, that a pervasive hostile sentiment existed. He had an 

opportunity to do so, because the circuit court held a hearing on July 6, 2015 to discuss the 

motion for a change of venue and to gather information relating to media coverage of the case 

and the impact of that coverage on the jury pool. (App. Vol. I. at 768-76). At the hearing, the 

court expressly noted that it had received and was familiar with the evidence proffered by 

Petitioner purporting to demonstrate the existence of a pervasive hostile sentiment. (See id. at 

772) (Petitioner's counsel indicated he had prepared a summary and statistical breakdown of the 

jury questionnaires already received, and emailed it to the court, and the trial judge said on the 

record that "I am going to respond to that email, 1 am familiar with it. "). Petitioner asked the 

court to mle on the pending motion for change of venue, taking into account the information 

provided up to that point, but the court declined to do so, determining that the evidence thus far 

presented had not established the existence of the pervasive hostility necessitating a change. (Id. 

at 776). Instead the court determined that the appropriate course of action was to continue to 

screen the jury questionnaires for indications of bias, remove jurors who indicated they could not 

be impartial, and allow the parties to engage in extensive individual voir dire. (Jd.). 

The fact that the court held a hearing and took into account Petitioner's proffered 

evidence forecloses any argument predicated on Flaherty and Gianni that the circuit court 
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abused its discretion when it chose not to rule on Petitioner's motion prior to voir dire. Had 

Petitioner introduced evidence akin to that offered in Dandy, such an argument might have merit. 

See Dandy, 151 W. Va. at 550, 153 S.E.2d at 509 (explaining that in addition to introducing the 

"approximately seventy-five newspaper items and editorials" the defendant "called thirty-three 

witnesses . . . all of whom testified that the defendant's reputation was such that he could not 

obtain a fair trial" in the country where the crime had been committed). However, given the 

quality and quantity of the evidence proffered in this case (which, in essence, did little more than 

point out that there had been negative pretrial publicity), the circuit court's refusal was a 

legitimate exercise of its discretion. See e.g., Gangwer, 169 W. Va. at 181, 286 S.E.2d at 393. 

Therefore, the only question that remains is whether or not the circuit court abused its discretion 

when it determined that a change of venue was not necessary after undertaking voir dire. 

As noted above, voir dire produced a panel of thirteen jurors3 who expressly stated that 

they could set aside any prior opinions and would consider the evidence in an impartial manner. 

(See App. Vol. I at 884,902,912-13,916-17,920-23,942,948,954-55, 1001-02, 1018-19, 1067, 

1071-72, 1081-92). Petitioner emphasizes that eight of the jurors who were selected had prior 

knowledge of the facts of the case, but "merely 'having some knowledge of [a] case does not 

automatically disqualify a juror. '" Derr, 192 W. Va. at 172, 451 S.E.2d at 738 (quoting State v.

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